ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. 	There was insufficient evidence to prove the Petitioner 
was under the influence of a controlled substance and 
such influence contributed to the deaths in the accident 
in this case. 

B. The Circuit Court's comments to the jury venire 
irrevocably tainted the jury venire and it constituted a 
denial of the Petitioner's constitutional rights to an 
unbiased jury when the petit jurywas selected from the 
biasedjury venire. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On September 18,2014, the Petitioner, along with Nathaniel Thompson (a minor 

and the Petitioner's son), Alyssa Bowman (a minor under the Petitioner's care, custody, 

and control),l Rebecca Bias, and Betty Holstein, went to visit Betty's brother (Justin), 

whom Rebecca had been seeing for several months. A.R. 962. While there, the Petitioner 

began to experience some fatigue from waking up at 7:00 a.m. A.R. 964. Justin gave the 

Petitioner a "small line of crystal meth," AR. 963. Although not a regular user, the 

Petitioner testified that on the occasions when he did use methamphetamine, it made him 

more alert. AR. 964. The Petitioner testified the line had the desired effect of "bring[ing] 

him up[,]" A.R. 965, but that he remained tired. AR. 965.2 

The State also produced testimony that after the Petitioner had consumed the 

methamphetamine he went to a convenience store to buy some diapers. AR. 825. The 

1Betty was referred to in the transcript as the Petitioner's common-law wife. A.R. 963. The 
Petitioner stipulated at trial that Nathaniel was the couple's natural born son whose birthdate was 
October 24, 2012. A.R. 844. The Petitioner further stipulated that Alyssa Bowman was born on 
December 8, 2008. A.R. 844. The Petitioner additionally stipulated that as of September 19, 2014 
(the date of the accident), the minors were under the Petitioner's care, custody, and control. A.R. 
844. 

2The Petitioner also stated in his March 26, 2015 statement that he had consumed three Xanax. 
A.R. 1343. 
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Petitioner arrived at between 9:30 and 9:45 p.m. on September 18,2014. A.R. 824. Donna 

Tacket, a clerk on duty that evening, testified the Petitioner appeared to be confused as to 

the kind of diapers he wished to purchase. AR. 825. The Petitioner testified in 

explanation that the store did not have the brand he normally bought and, therefore, he 

was unsure of what size to buy since different brands may fit differently. A.R. 966. Ms. 

Tackett agreed on cross-examination that if a patron was used to using a certain brand of 

diaper, and the store did not carry that particular brand, that the patron might take some 

time to decide which diapers to buy. AR. 828. Moreover, Dawnya Mullins, the other clerk 

in the store that night admitted that was not necessarily unusual that if a person were not 

familiar with the diaper brands on sale that it might take some time to decide which 

diapers to purchase. A.R. 833. Furthermore, Ms. Mullins also admitted that on that night 

the Petitioner was not staggering in a drunken or intoxicated state. A.R. 834. Finally, the 

Petitioner testified without contradiction that he also purchased a pack of cigarettes, a 

bag of chips, a candy bar, and pumped $20 in gas that night at the store without incident. 

AR. 967. 

The Petitioner returned to Justin's. A.R. 967. The Petitioner testified, without 

contradiction, that while returning to Newport from Justin's it was somewhat foggy. A.R. 

968. According to the Petitioner, while coming around a curve, Rebecca cried out for him 

to avoid hitting several deer just as the four deer wondered in the road. A.R. 968. The 

Petitioner drifted into the emergency lane to avoid the deer, which was the last thing the 

Petitioner remembered until he woke up outside of the car trying to unsuccessfully stand 

up. AR. 968-69. The Petitioner testified that he was ejected from the truck and suffered 

a shattered spleen, four broken ribs, a broken nose, a broken collar bone and a number of 

broken teeth that all had to be removed to prevent infection. A.R. 969. Nathaniel, Alyssa, 
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Rebecca, and Betty were killed in the accident, which occurred after midnight on 

September 19. A.R. 310. 

The Petitioner's blood was drawn by virtue of a search warrant. A.R. 1292-1293. 

According to State Police Toxicologist Erin Spearen who tested the Petitioner's blood3 

(and who the circuit court accepted as an expert in toxicology, A.R. 782), because West 

Virginia does not impose a per se limit on driving with a controlled substance (that is, 

West Virginia does not prohibit driving with a particular level of methamphetamine in 

the system), she does not test any blood samples to obtain a true reading; rather, she 

merely tests to determine if there is a detectible level of methamphetamine in the sample, 

which by West Virginia State Police Standards is an amount of 25 nanograms per 

milliliter. A.R. 793.4 Ms. Spearen found the requisite 25 ng/miL of methamphetamine in 

the Petitioner's blood. A.R. 794. Moreover, and crucially however, Ms. Spearen testified 

that she "[could]not make a determination as to whether [the Petitioner] was impaired or 

not[.]" A.R. 806. And while the Petitioner gave a statement that the methamphetamine 

he took made him drowsy, A.R. 1343, he testified at trial that he made a mistake in this 

assessment. A.R. 990-991. 

3Ms. Spearen testified that the drugs she tested for are contained in the West Virginia State Police 
Toxicology Drug Panel. AR. 788. Under this drug panel, she tests for amphetamine type 
compounds, benzodiazepine type compounds, cocaine type compounds, and opiate type 
compounds. AR. 788. The only drug for which the Petitioner tested positive was 
methamphetamine. AR. 792. 

4Ms. Spearen testified that the reason she does not provide specific levels in her report "is because 
that would have required additional validation studies to be performed, and due to the fact that 
West Virginia State Code does not require there to be levels to prove intoxication, those validation 
studies were not performed." AR. 795. Ms. Spearen further explained that she is currently "the 
only toxicologist in the State of West Virginia that can perform this type oftesting, and [she has] 
an Boo-case backlog, and at this time [she] just [does not] have the additional time and weeks to 
devote to doing the validation studies in order to provide levels in the report." AR. 795. 
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Further, Kanawha County Sheriffs Office Sergeant Dan Waller was accepted by the 

circuit court as an expert in accident reconstruction. A.R. 862. According to Sergeant 

Waller, there was no evidence the Petitioner was speeding, A.R. 880, nor was there any 

indication of improper driving, other than the truck leaving the road. A.R. 891. 

The Petitioner was charged with four counts of Driving under the Influence, 

Contributing Cause to a Fatality, two counts of Child Neglect Resulting in Death, Four 

Counts of Negligent Homicide, one count of Reckless Driving, one count of Driving on a 

Suspended License (second offense), and one Count of Failure to Maintain Lane ofTravel. 

A.R. 1271-1285. 

On the morning of trial, the Petitioner indicated he would accept a plea agreement. 

A.R. 158. The following exchange occurred: 

THE COURT: ... But it's your desire as you sit here today to enter 
this agreement and plead guilty to six separate felonies; is that correct? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, I really wasn't ready to make a decision yet. 
I mean, that's a big decision to make. 

THE COURT: It's a big decision to make, but you either make the 
decision now, or 12 jurors sitting out there are going to make a decision. 

THE DEFENDANT: I guess I'll take the plea. I'm kind of forced into 
it. 

THE COURT: Let me inquire into that. What do you mean being 
forced into it? 

THE DEFENDANT: I'm kind of being rushed into this too. 

THE COURT: You're not being rushed, Mr. Thompson. There's no 
way I can say that you're being rushed in any way. This matter has been set 
down for trial. It's been set down - this is the third trial date I believe we've 
had in it. I granted a continuance the last time. I gave you thirty-some days, 
I think-

THE DEFENDANT: I didn't ask for a continuance. 
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THE COURT: What's that? 

THE DEFENDANT: 1 said 1 didn't ask for no continuance. 

THE COURT: Your attorney did. 1 mean, I'm ready to go forward 
with the trial. We've got 56 jurors out there, and we're going to start picking 
them. 

THE DEFENDANT: I'll take the plea. 

THE COURT: You're doing this - you think you've had enough time 
to make this decision? You were indicted back in - almost a year ago. 

THE DEFENDANT: But 1 just got offered a plea a week and a half 
ago. 

THE COURT: 1 understand. I'm not going to give you any more days, 
we either start picking a jury today, or -

THE DEFENDANT: I'll take a plea - 1 mean. 

A.R.159. 

The circuit court then told the parties that it was going to inform the jurors "what 

they were here for." A.R. 161. The circuit court then told the jury venire: 

1 want to say even though you all didn't do anything, you really did a 
lot. The fact that he knew there was 56 [sic] people sitting out here waiting 
to make a decision on his guilt or innocence I'm sure weighed heavily on his 
mind and ultimately caused him to decide to accept the plea agreement that 
the State had offered. 

A.R. 161. The court continued, "I really can't tell you much more about the case but he 

probably did everyone a favor by doing the plea. It was a pretty tragic case." A.R. 161. The 

court went on, "Don't think you didn't do anything. There was not a plea this morning at 

9:00 a.m. The fact that he knew there was [sic] 56 people out here waiting to decide his 

fate 1 think is what caused him to change his mind and decide to accept the agreement." 

A.R. 161. The court then reiterated, "Like 1 said, 1 think he did - 1 think he did the jury 
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pool a favor, because like I said it was a pretty tragic case with some children involved." 

A.R. 161. The court then released the venire for the day. A.R. 161-162. 

Upon returning from releasing the venire, the circuit court was informed the 

Petitioner had decided withdraw his guilty plea and go to trial. A.R. 162. The circuit court 

then placed upon the record the following, "I need to place this on the record. I did release 

the jury, I gave them the name of the defendant and told them what the charges were. I 

did not say anything else. I don't know if I did anything to prejudice the jury, but I would 

have said that anyway at the start of the trial." A.R. 162. 

The next day, the Petitioner moved for a mistrial, A.R. 178, which the circuit court 

refused. A.R. 179. Instead the circuit court instructed the jury: 

All right. Ladies and gentlemen ofthe jury, this is the case of the State 
of West Virginia vs. Frank Thompson. Case number 15-F-95. 

The matter was set for trial yesterday, and the jury panel was 
summonsed to be here. At the start of the trial the parties announced to the 
Court they had reached a plea agreement. Pursuant to this announcement, 
the Court released the jury panel. The plea agreement ultimately did not 
take place, which brings us back here today. 

The fact that there were plea negotiations, a tentative plea agreement 
that did not take place, and anything this Court might have stated upon 
releasing the jury shall not be considered at any time by this jury panel, nor 
jury as evidence, and shall not be viewed in State v. Frank Thompson in 
reaching any decisions on this matter. 

A.R. 186-187. 

After trial, the jury found the Petitioner guilty of: (1) the four counts of Driving 

under the Influence, Contributing Cause to a Fatality, (2) the two counts ofChild Neglect 

Resulting in Death, (3) Reckless Driving, (4) Driving on a Suspended License (second 

offense), and (4) Failure to Maintain Lane of Travel. A.R. 1321. 
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The State instituted a recidivist proceeding, A.R. 1323, resulting in a jury finding 

that the Petitioner had twice before been convicted of felony offenses, i.e., Breaking and 

Entering and Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance to wit, Cocaine. A.R. 1328. 

After the recidivist proceeding, the circuit court imposed the following sentence: 

(1) a Life Sentence upon the Petitioner for his conviction under Count I of the indictment, 

Driving under the Influence, Contributing Cause to a Fatality, (2) sentences of 2 to 10 

years on Counts 2, 3, and 4 (each concurrent to Count 1), i.e., Driving under the Influence, 

Contributing Cause to a Fatality, (3) a sentence of 3 to 15 years on Child Neglect Resulting 

in Death (consecutive to Counts 1 through 4); (4) a sentence of 3 to 15 years on the other 

Child Neglect Resulting in Death (consecutive to Counts 1 through 4), and (5) imposition 

of the minimum fines for the remaining misdemeanor moving violations. A.R. 1337-1339. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

A. 	There was insufficient evidence to prove the Petitioner 
was under the influence of a controlled substance and 
such influence contributed to the deaths in the accident 
in this case. 

Where the State fails to prove anyone or more of the essential elements of a 

criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt, this Court is obligated to vacate the 

conviction. Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Garcia, 140 W. Va. 185, 83 S.E.2d 528 (1954) ("A verdict of 

guilty in a criminal case which is not supported by the evidence will be set aside."). 

Sufficient evidence to prove guilt "cannot be based on surmise, speculation, suspicion, 

conjecture, or probability alone." 41 C.J.S. Homicide § 453. 

The gravamen of the defense below was that there was not sufficient evidence to 

prove the Petitioner was either under the influence of a controlled substance 

(methamphetamine) or that the controlled substance caused the car accident. In this case, 
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the State produced no evidence the Petitioner had any more than 25 ng/miL of 

methamphetamine in his system. The State's own toxicology witness testified she could 

not opine whether the methamphetamine impaired the Petitioner. The State's accident 

reconstructionist also testified there was no evidence the Petitioner was speeding nor was 

there any indication of improper driving by the Petitioner, other than the truck leaving 

the road. The State adduced evidence from two convenience court clerks that the 

Petitioner was confused when buying diapers, but each clerk then admitted that given the 

circumstances, such confusion was understandable. And, the Petitioner testified under 

oath and without contradiction that he also purchased a pack of cigarettes, a bag of chips, 

a candy bar, and pumped $20 in gas that night at the store. At best the State could point 

to the Petitioner's statement that the methamphetamine made him tired, but the 

Petitioner-under oath-explained that that statement was in error. 

Finally, the State argued the jury could infer the mere ingestion of 

methamphetamine caused the accident. A.R. 913-914. However, "[p]roof of mere 

sequence is not sufficient to establish consequence or causal sequence." Bussmann Mfg. 

Co. v. N.L.R.B., 111 F.2d 783, 787 (8th Cir. 1940). The State's position on causation 

amounts to post hoc, ergo propter hoc, the logical fallacy that temporal sequence proves 

causation. San Francisco v. Wendy's Int'l, Inc., 221 W. Va. 734, 756, 656 S.E.2d 485, 507 

(2007) (citation omitted) (Benjamin, J., dissenting) ('''Inferring causation from the 

timing is an example ofthe classical logical fallacy, post hoc, ergo propter hoc-it is illogical 

to infer that event A caused condition B because A preceded B."'). Post hoc, ergo propter 

hoc has been almost universally rejected by the judicial system as a proof of causation. 

"Courts ... have universally rejected the notion ofpost hoc ergo propter hoc as a basis for 

proving causation." Christensen v. United States, No. 2:05CV55DAK, 2007 WL 1467347, 
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at *7 (D. Utah May 18, 2007), affd, 288 F. App'x 445 (10th Cir. 2008). See also Jones v. 

McNaughton Co., No. 105 MDA 2015, 2015 WL 8804277, at *9 (Pa. Super. Ct. Dec. 15, 

2015) ("the inference that B follows A because A caused B, [is] a proposition consistently 

rejected by the courts."), appeal denied, 138 A.3d 5 (Pa. 2016). 

The State produced insufficient evidence the Petitioner was under the influence of 

methamphetamine or that, if such an influence existed, such influence caused the 

accident. The Petitioner's DUI causing death convictions and child neglect convictions 

should be vacated for lack of sufficient evidence. 

B. 	The Circuit Court's comments to the jury venire 
irrevocably tainted the jury venire and it constituted a 
denial of the Petitioner's constitutional rights to an 
unbiased jury when the petit jury was selected from the 
biased jury pool. 

Trial judges must be scrupulously fair to both sides in a trial and avoid any statements 

or conduct that might lead jurors to conclude the judge has reached an opinion on the 

defendant's guilt or innocence. Any such statements or conduct that discloses the judge's 

predisposition toward the defendant is grounds for a mistrial. And ifno mistrial is granted 

under such circumstances, a reversal of the conviction is mandated: 

The trial judge in a criminal trial must consistently be aware that he 
occupies a unique position in the minds of the jurors and is capable, because 
of his position, ofunduly influencing jurors in the discharge of their duty as 
triers of the facts. This Court has consistently required trial judges not to 
intimate an opinion on any fact in issue in any manner. In criminal cases, 
we have frequently held that conduct of the trial judge which indicates his 
opinion on any material matter will result in a guilty verdict being set aside 
and a new trial awarded. 

Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Wotring, 167 W. Va. 104, 279 S.E.2d 182 (1981). Here the circuit court 

informed the jury venire that the Petitioner had chosen to plead guilty implying that the 

Petitioner did not wish to have his guilt or innocence judged by a jury. The circuit court 
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also told the jury that the Petitioner was doing the jury a favor by pleading guilty given 

the tragic facts of the case. The judge's comments irrevocably tainted the jury pool. And 

it is of no moment that the judge gave a curative instruction since this is one ofthose rare 

situations where a curative instruction was insufficient to dissipate the taint. 

While jurors are presumed to follow their instructions, this rule is more a matter 

of practicalities than of indisputable certitude. There are simply times when a curative 

instruction is insufficient to dissipate the taint a trial judge's impermissible comments my 

work upon the jury. Here, the trial judge implied to the jury that the Petitioner is guilty 

and did not wish to face a trial and that a trial would be doing a disservice to the jury itself. 

This is one of those rare situations where the judge cannot unring the bell. The Petitioner 

is entitled to a new trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING 
ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

This case presents a significant question of sufficiency of the evidence to sustain 

the Petitioner's convictions. This warrants argument under Revised Rule of Appellate 

Procedure 19(a)(3). This case also involves application in principles of settled law which 

calls for an argument under Revised Rule of Appellate Procedure 19(a)(1). Because this 

case asks this Court to reverse a conviction, and hence to reverse a circuit court, a signed 

opinion is called for. See id. 21(d) ("A memorandum decision reversing the decision of a 

circuit court should be issued in limited circumstances."). 

ARGUMENT 

A. 	There was insufficient evidence to prove the Petitioner 
was under the influence of a controlled substance and 
such influence contributed to the deaths in the accident 
in this case. 

10 



Standard of Review 

"We have long held that '[t]he trial court's disposition of a motion for judgment of 

acquittal is subject to ... de novo review[.]'" State v. Smith, No. 14-0433, 2015 WL 

3388353, at *2 (W. Va. May 15, 2015) (Memorandum Decision) (quoting State v. LaRock, 

196 W. Va. 294, 304, 470 S.E.2d 613,623 (1996)). 

"In the order to sustain a conviction, the State must prove every essential element 

of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Breeden, 174 W. Va. 705, 707, 

329 S.E.2d 71, 73 (1985) (per curiam). Thus, "[a] verdict ofguilty in a criminal case, which 

is without sufficient evidence to support it, will be set aside by the appellate court." Syl. 

Pt. 6, State v. Hudson, 128 W. Va. 655, 37 S.E.2d 553 (1946). Because the State produced 

insufficient evidence the Petitioner was under the influence of a controlled substance at 

the time of the accident, the P~titioner is entitled to have his conviction vacated. 

West Virginia follows the Jackson v. Virginia standard to test sufficiency of the 

evidence claims. See State v. LaRock, 196 W. Va. 294, 303, 470 S.E.2d 613, 622 (1996); 

State v. Boyd, 238 W. Va. 420, 429 n.12 796 S.E.2d 207, 216 n.12 (2017). Under Jackson, 

an appellate court's function "when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a 

criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether 

such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person ofthe defendant's 

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 

S.E.2d 163 (1995). "Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in 

the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the 

essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. (emphasis in 

original). 
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An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or 
circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must 
credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have 
drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent 
with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt 
beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not 
an appellate court. Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the 
record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the 
jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Syl. Pt. 3, in part, State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). 

A court does not, "however, fulfill [its] duty through rote incantation of these 

principles followed by summary affirmance." United States v. Long, 905 F.2d 1572,1576 

(D.C. Cir. 1990). The Jackson standard is not toothless, Powell v. United States, 916 A.2d 

890, 894 (D.C. 2006), and "it is not a rubber stamp." Swinton v. United States, 902 A.2d 

772, 776 n.6 (D.C. 2006). "[I]f we are to be faithful to the constitutional requirement that 

no person may be convicted unless the Government has proven guilt beyond a reasonable 

doubt, we must take seriously our obligation to assess the record to determine, as Jackson

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