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

that: (1) Petitioner was the biological father of N.T., (App. at 1023); (2) Petitioner was the 

custodian of A.B. on the night of the accident, (id. at 1023); (3) both children were under 

Petitioner's care, custody, and control on the night of the accident, (id. at 1023); and (4) 

Petitioner was the driver of the truck during the crash, (id. at 1024). Finally, Chief Deputy Baker 

testified at trial, without controversion, that Petitioner's driver's license was suspended at the 

time of the accident and that it had previously been revoked and/or suspended. (Jd. at 847). 

5. Petitioner's relevant trial testimony. 

After the State rested, Petitioner took the stand. (App. at 961). He testified that the night 

the accident occurred, he had driven to Betty Holstein's brother's house for a social gathering 

with Rebecca and two children. (Jd. at 962). He told the jury that he had used meth on previous 

occasions and it typically would "speed [him] up." (Jd. at 964). Petitioner admitted to the jury 

that he consumed meth that evening, telling the jury that he had "done a line [of meth]" 2 or 3 

hours before leaving. (Jd. at 964-65). He claimed that four deer came out into the road that night 

so he drifted over into the emergency lane and could not remember anything about the accident 

after that. (Jd. at 968). On cross-examination, Petitioner admitted that he told the police that he 

jerked and swerved off of the road. (Jd. at 982). He also admitted that he told the police that he 

did not want to drive that night and that the meth made him feel tired. (Jd. at 985, 990). 
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6. Jury instructions and verdict form. 

Before jury deliberations, the trial court merged Counts 7 through 10 into Counts 1 and 4 

(by including Negligent Homicide as a lesser included offense of Driving Under the Influence 

Causing Death). (See App. at 1320). The court then instructed the jury as to the elements of each 

charge.4 

7. Conviction. 

Following deliberations, Petitioner was convicted on all counts: Six felonies (four counts 

of Driving Under the Influence Causing Death (Counts 1 through 4); and two counts of Child 

Neglect Resulting in Death (Counts 5 and 6» and three misdemeanors (Reckless Driving (Count 

11); Driving on a Suspended License, Second Offense (Count 12); Failure to Maintain Lane of 

Travel (Count 13»). CAppo at 1321). 

4 Driving Under the Influence Causing Death: that (1) Petitioner; (2) drove a vehicle; (3) while 
under the influence of a controlled substance, specifically methamphetamine; (4) while driving, "did any 
act forbidden in the driving of such vehicle, or failed to petform any duty imposed by law in the driving 
of such vehicle, specifically, by failing to maintain the lane of travel"; (5) in reckless disregard of the 
safety of others; (6) which act or failure; (7) caused the deaths of the victims; (8) within one year next 
following such act or failure; (9) and when the influence of the controlled substances; (10) was a 
contributing cause of such deaths. (App. at 1025). 

Child Neglect Resulting in the Death of A.B. and N.T.: that (1) Petitioner; (2) was a parent, 
guardian, or custodian; (3) who neglected A.B. and N.T.; (4) at a time when such child was under his 
care, custody, and control; (5) and by such neglect; (6) and caused the death of such child. (Id. at 1029). 

Reckless Driving: that (1) Petitioner, (2) drove a vehicle upon any street or highway; and (3) in 
willful or wanton disregard of the safety of persons or property. (Id. at 1030-31). 

Driving While License Suspended, second offense: that (1) Petitioner; (2) drove a vehicle on a 
public highway; (3) at a time when his privilege to drive had been lawfully revoked or suspended; (4) 
after having been previously convicted for driving with a suspended or revoked license. (Id. at 1031-32). 

Failure to Maintain Lane of Travel: that (1) Petitioner; (2) drove a vehicle; (3) on a roadway 
divided into two or more lanes; (4) failed to drive the vehicle as nearly as practicable within a single lane; 
and (4) after before ascertaining that such movement could be made with safety. (Id. at 1032-33). 
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8. Recidivist Trial. 

Thereafter, the State instituted recidivist proceedings, and, following a Jury trial, 

Petitioner was found to have been previously convicted of two felony offenses. (App. at 1327

28). 

9. Sentence. 

Petitioner was sentenced on July 19, 2016. CAppo at 1336). Due to his recidivist 

conviction, Petitioner was sentenced to life with mercy for his conviction of Driving Under the 

Influence Causing Death as charged in Count 1 of the Indictment. (Jd. at 1337). He was 

sentenced to an indeterminate term of not less than two (2) nor more than ten (10) years' 

incarceration upon his conviction for the three additional counts of Driving Under the Influence 

Causing Death. (Jd. at 1337-38). Petitioner was also sentenced to a period of not less three (3) 

nor more than fifteen (15) years' incarceration on each of two counts of Child Neglect Resulting 

in Death. (Jd. at 1338). He was ordered to pay the minimum fines for his convictions of Driving 

on a Suspended License and Reckless Driving, and Failure to Maintain Lane of Travel (all three 

are misdemeanors offenses). (Id. at 1338-39). Finally, Petitioner was ordered to serve a period 

of fifty (50) years of extended supervised released and register as a Convicted Child Abuser. (Id. 

at 1339). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's claim that there was insufficient evidence to support his convictions for four 

(4) counts of driving under the influence causing death and two (2) counts of child neglect 

causing death is without merit. It was uncontested at trial that Petitioner snorted crystal meth 

three (3) or less hours before driving his truck and crashing it, and Petitioner told the police that 

the meth made him tired. This is consistent with the accident reconstruction's testimony that 

10 




there was no sudden swerving before the crash (contrary to Petitioner's statement that he jerked 

and swerved the vehicle to avoid hitting deer in the road). Moreover, blood testing revealed the 

presence of methamphetamine in Petitioner's system and a responding paramedic testified that 

Petitioner appeared under the influence of a drug or substance. Thus, there was sufficient 

evidence for the jury to find that Petitioner was under the influence of methamphetamine that 

night, and that such influence caused the crash which resulted in the death of four individuals. 

Petitioner's contention that the court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial due to an 

alleged tainting of the jury pool is similarly unavailing. The court gave a curative instruction to 

the venire, informing the prospective jurors that they were not to consider any statements 

regarding the plea proceedings that the court made the previous day. Moreover, because this 

issue occurred before voir dire and because every juror who was empaneled answered that he or 

she would be fair and impartial, Petitioner's claim that they were biased against him is without 

merit. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The standard of review differs for each assignment of error and will be set forth therein. 

ARGUMENT 

1. 	 There was sufficient evidence to prove Petitioner was under the influence of a 
controlled substance and that such influence contributed to the deaths of his four 
passengers. 
, 

A conviction in a criminal proceeding does not violate the constitution so long as the jury 

is able to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the charged crime was committed. See Syl. pts. I 

and 2, State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 S.E.2d 163, 169 (1995). Such a conviction can be 

obtained through direct or circumstantial evidence, or a combination of both. Id. at 668, 461 

S.E.2d at 174. In fact, in Guthrie, this Court explained: 
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There should be only one standard of proof in criminal cases and that is proof 
beyond a reasonable doubt. Once a proper instruction is given advising the jury as 
to the State's heavy burden under the guilt beyond a reasonable doubt standard, an 
additional instruction on circumstantial evidence is no longer required even if the 
State relies wholly on circumstantial evidence. 

ld. at Syl. pt. 2, 461 S.E.2d at 169.5 

On appeal, a petitioner claiming that there was insufficient evidence to support a 

conviction faces a "heavy burden." Guthrie, 194 W. Va. at Syl. pt. 3 (in part), 461 S.E.2d at 169 

"[A]ll [] evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, [must be viewed] in the light most favorable 

to the prosecution [and the appellate court] must credit all inferences and credibility assessments 

that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution." ld. "[A] jury verdict should be set 

aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the 

jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." ld. Thus, the inquiry on appeal is whether any 

5 Petitioner relies upon, among other cases, State v. Cummings for the proposition that a petitioner 
claiming that his conviction is based upon insufficient evidence faces a heavy, but not insurmountable 
burden. (Pet'r's Brief at 12 n.5) (citing 220 W. Va. 433, 647 S.E.2d 869 (2007)). In Cummings, the 
petitioner was convicted of both conspiring and attempting to operate a clandestine drug laboratory in 
violation of W. Va. Code §§ 60A-4-11 and 60A-4-411. Cummings, 220 W. Va. at 438-39, 647 S.E.2d at 
874-75. On appeal, this Court found the evidence was insufficient to sustain these convictions, in that 
intent to manufacture methamphetamine could not be inferred "solely from evidence that [the petitioner] 
was operating a vehicle, not owned by him, which contained cold medicine and matches in the rear 
passenger area." Id. at 439,647 S.E.2d at 875. In reversing the convictions, this Court noted that "[w]hile 
we agree with the State that intent may often be inferred from the circumstances, we also believe that 
evidence of possession is necessarily required." Id. at 439, 647 S.E.2d at 875. Cummings is a sound 
opinion but it has no specific application to Petitioner's case other than for the general proposition that a 
criminal conviction must be supported by sufficient evidence to withstand reversal. This is fundamental 
and certainly not disputed. 

Put another way, the State does not disagree with Petitioner's proclamations that our criminal 
justice system requires evidentiary proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The multitude of cases Petitioner 
cites in his brief-ranging from a 27 year old opinion from the D.C. Circuit, mUltiple opinions from state 
intermediate courts and federal appellate courts, to a 101 year old opinion from this Court all stand for the 
universally accepted truth that there must be evidence-proof beyond a reasonable doubt-to support a 
conviction. See, e.g., Syl. Pts. 1 and 3, Guthrie, 194 W. Va. at Syl. Pts. 1 and 3, 461 S.E.2d 163-69; Syl. 
Pts. 1-3, State v. Cummings, supra. That the burden of proof in a criminal conviction is "guilt beyond a 
reasonable doubt" is a bedrock principle of our constitution and so deeply ingrained in our society that 
this standard is frequently examined both in the legal system and in American popular culture. See, e.g., 
Law & Order: Special Victims Units: Reasonable Doubt (NBC Television Broadcast May 7, 2014); To 
Kill a Mockingbird (Universal Pictures 1962); American Crime Story: The People v. OJ Simpson (FX 
Apr. 5, 2016). 

12 



fact-finder could have found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. ld at 668, 461 S.E.2d at 174. 

("[W)hen reviewing a conviction [on appeal), we may accept any adequate evidence, including 

circumstantial evidence, as support for the conviction. It is possible that we, as an appellate 

court, may have reached a different result if we had sat as jurors. However, [) it does not matter 

how we might have interpreted or weighed the evidence. Our function when reviewing the 

sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted 

at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable 

person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt."). 

A review of the underlying record confirms that there was sufficient evidence to convict 

Petitioner on all challenged counts.6 Petitioner admitted that he snorted a line of crystal meth just 

hours before the fatal accident; that the meth made him tired; that he typically felt the effects of 

meth for hours after consuming it; and that he drove the truck while tired because of the meth on 

the night of the accident. (E.g., App. at 897-903; 662; 906; 964). While Petitioner attempted to 

change his story at trial-claiming that the meth had not made him tired-the relative weight and 

credibility to give Petitioner's conflicting (and self-serving) statements was for the jury to 

decide. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. at Syi. Pt. 3,461 S.E.2d at 169; Syi. pt. 5, State v. Fleming, 237 W. 

Va. 44, 784 S.E.2d 743, 747 (2016) ("Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an 

6 Petitioner only challenges the evidence relating to his homicide convictions (four (4) Driving 
Under the Influence Causing Death and two (2) counts of Child Neglect Causing Death). (See Pet'r's 
Brief at 14-15). Insofar as he raises the same challenge to his remaining convictions-the misdemeanor 
offenses of reckless driving, failure to maintain a lane, and driving on a suspended license, second 
offense-the charges of reckless driving and failure to maintain the lanes are supported by the same 
evidence demonstrating that Petitioner was unfit to drive, chose to drive anyway, and drove off the road 
resulting in a fiery crash. As to the charge of driving on a suspended license, second offense, it was 
uncontested at trial through the testimony of Chief Deputy Baker that Petitioner's license was revoked at 
the time of the accident and that it had been previously revoked. (App. at 847). 
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appellate court.") (quoting Guthrie, 194 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 3,461 S.E.2d at 169).7 The State also 

introduced evidence that Petitioner appeared to be under the influence of a substance based upon 

Paramedic Raines' testimony and the blood sample which revealed Petitioner had meth in his 

system at the time of the accident. CAppo at 793-94; 720-22). This is sufficient evidence to 

establish that Petitioner was under the influence of meth when the accident occurred-Petitioner 

admitted as much in his statement to the police. Given this evidence, it was reasonable (and, 

quite frankly, logical) for the jury to find that Petitioner's consumption of meth was the cause of 

the accident which resulted in the death of two adults and two children. 

While Petitioner contends that the State's argument below following trial was a case of 

post hoc ergo propter hoc-a logical fallacy that "temporal sequence proves causation"S

Petitioner's argument ignores his own statement that the meth made him tired and that he 

7And there was ample testimony at trial calling into question Petitioner's credibility: As discussed 
herein, he was not honest with the first responders and police regarding whether there were any 
passengers in the vehicle. He told police he took meth 1 12 to 2 hours before the accident and that it made 
him feel tired, but then, at trial, he claimed he took meth 2 to 3 hours before and that it did not make him 
tired. He also told police that he swerved out of the road but then testified at trial that he "drifted" into the 
emergency lane.

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